The Historic Conner House
(photographs courtesy of Blake Myers unless otherwise noted)

The Conner House, located in the vicinity of 8220 Conner Drive, is the only historic structure in
the City of Manassas Park. Its known history reaches back to the 18+ century and the earliest
settlers in Prince William County. During the Civil War the house served from July to November
1861 as the headquarters of Confederate General Joseph E. Johnston, at that time the
commander of the Confederate Army of the Shenandoah, and in August 1862 as the headquarters
of Colonel Lewis B. Pierce, commander of the 12+h Pennsylvania Cavalry. It also saw service as a
field hospital during the war, and is one of the few remaining antebellum structures in the
Manassas area.

Conner House (May 2017)

The Conner House stands on land owned in the 18+ century by the Hooe family, one of the first
families to settle in Prince William County. The Hooe family owned an extensive (100-acre) tract
of land, then known as Mayfield, southwest of the house. It was on this tract of land that
Manassas Junction, linking the Manassas Gap Railroad to the Orange and Alexandria Railroad, was
built in 1851. The house was built ca. 1810, likely by slave labor rented from William Weir of
Liberia Plantation, originally as an overseer's house and later a farmhouse. It survives as an
example of a dwelling type indigenous to the Manassas area.



The original structure was built on a “side-hall plan” with an exterior end chimney and a steeply
pitched, heavily timbered roof. The structure was modified c. 1855 with the addition of the fwo-
story stone wing with an interior end chimney and one room per floor, an alteration typical of
many farm homes in Virginia in the 19t century to meet the space demands of growing families.

The Civil War significance of the house was not fully known until L. VanLoan Naisawald, a local
historian and former National Park Service employee, consulted the papers of George Carr Round,
a Union Veteran who settled in the Manassas area in 1868 and became a prominent civic figure
and leader in Manassas. Round's papers contained a reference to the stone house east of the city,
that had, along with Liberia, survived the war and was standing in 1865. In reviewing General
Johnston's correspondence for details of activities in the Manassas area during the period July
1861 - March 1862, Naisawald noted that Johnston frequently cited his correspondence "The
Duncan House - Manassas”. In reviewing the census data for Tudor Hall, the area’s name during
the time of the 1860 Census, Naisawald verified that the Duncan House and the Conner House
were one in the same.

General Johnston arrived in the Manassas Area in July 1861 with four brigades of the Army of
the Shenandoah to reinforce Brigadier General P.G.T. Beauregard's Army of the Potomac in its
defense against the advance of Brigadier General Irvin McDowell's Army of Northeastern
Virginia. Johnston's arrival and reinforcement of Beauregard's defense along the Bull Run was
just in time fo blunt the Federal army's advance and turn the tide at the 1st Battle of Manassas
fought on July 21, 1861. General Johnston remained in the area after this Confederate victory as
the nominal Commander of the Army of the Potomac as well as Commander of the Army of the
Shenandoah, using the Conner (Duncan) House as his headquarters, until November 1861.




Conner House - Then and Now

In August 1862, the Conner House was used by Colonel Lewis B. Pierce, Commander of the 12th
Pennsylvania Cavalry that was posted at Bristoe Station performing picket duty, as his
headquarters and a hospital. On the night of August 26, Pierce lay ill in the house as Major
General Thomas J. "Stonewall” Jackson's Confederate force approached Manassas Junction from
the southwest. Having successfully raided Bristoe Station on the Orange and Alexandria Railroad
line that very afternoon, Jackson ordered a rare night movement to capture the large Federal
supply depot at Manassas Junction, a mere four miles from Bristoe Station. General Isaac R.
Trimble's Brigade led the movement and successfully captured the lightly defended depot in the
early morning hours of August 27, capturing eight cannon and some 300 Federal soldiers. Led by
Jackson, the divisions of Major General A.P. Hill and Brigadier General William B. Taliaferro
arrived at Manassas Junction that morning, deploying and defeating Federal forces arriving from
Centreville on the ground surrounding plantation Liberia and at the Bull Run Railroad Bridge near
Union Mills, with the Conner (Duncan) House sandwiched in between (see map, below).

Battle of Bull Run Bridge - Liberia, August 27 1862

After spending most of the day on August 27 liberating the foodstuffs and supplies at Manassas
Junction depot, late that afternoon Jackson moved his forces north to the high ground of Sandy
Ridge on the familiar battlefield of Manassas (Bull Run) to await the arrival of Longstreet's Corps.
Within 24 hours the fight at the Brawner Farm would initiate the 2nd Battle of Manassas (Bull
Run).

With its commanding position overlooking the Orange and Alexandria Railroad (now the Southern
Railway), the property known as Mayfield served as the site of Confederate encampments



throughout the war and as the site of a field hospital. A Timothy O'Sullivan photograph, dated
July 1862, and labeled ‘the Yellow Hospital”, is a photograph of the Conner (Duncan) House.

Manassas, VA, Yellow Hospital, July 1862, Timothy L. Sullivan (Library of Congress)

In this photograph a one-story frame addition appears on the house's north end, and among the
other visible structures there is a one-story log structure west of the house and a small, frame,
weatherboard structure off the southwest corner of the house. Up through the mid-20 century
civil war artifacts were routinely found in the yard around the house and on the surrounding
property.

Following the Civil War until the end of the 19+ century, the property was owned by the Butlers,
Greenes, Rickards, Bennetts, and Rouses. Throughout this period the property may also have
been attached to Bloom's Grove, a commercial stone quarry that operated in Manassas from the
Reconstruction era into the early 20+ century.

The name Conner refers to the family that owned the property from 1914 - 1973. Under the
ownership of E. R. Conner, the property became the center of a 400-acre dairy farm, one of the
largest in Prince William County. Milk from the dairy farm was shipped to Washington, D.C. from
Bloom's Crossing, a railroad stop Conner established at the front of the hill hear his house.

After 1971 the Conner Farm was divided, with the larger portion being sold to the Prince William
School Board (for what is now Osbourn Park High School and its athletic fields). All of the farm
buildings except the house were demolished, including the old log kitchen which sat behind the
house. In 1973 the Town (now City) of Manassas Park purchased the Conner House and its
remaining yard, which were later preserved and placed under the care of the City of Manassas



Park Parks and Recreation Department. The house was preserved, and the exterior restored,
largely through the efforts of the Manassas Park Women's Club and was listed on the National
Register of Historic Places (Ref# 81000645) on October 6, 1981. The Conner House is currently
closed to the public pending the completion of restoration of the structure's interior. The
BRCWRT and Past-President Mark Trbovich were instrumental in getting two Civil War Trails
signs installed at the Conner House in 2003.
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Conner House and Civil War Trails (CWT) Signs (May 2017)
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